Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-15-2012

Baruch v. Clark Appellant's Brief Dckt. 39224

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This Appeal involves the property characterization in a divorce between Defendant/Appellant Bill Clark (hereinafter referred to as "Bill") and Plaintiff/Respondent Dr. Amy Baruch (hereinafter referred to as "Dr. Baruch"). Bill is appealing from the August 25, 2011 Memorandum Decision and Order entered by the Honorable District Court Judge, Kathryn Sticklen affirming the decision of the Honorable Michael J. Reardon, Magistrate Judge, as set forth in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered on July 26, 2010, the Judgment and Decree of Divorce entered on August 10, 2010 and the Judgment and Order Re: Motion to Alter or Amend Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment entered on September 24, 2010.

Bill argues that the district court erred in affirming the magistrate because (1) the magistrate court's characterization of the entirety of Bill's IRA as community property is not supported by Idaho law; and (2) the magistrate court erred as a matter of law by characterizing Bill's capital gains income on separate property as community property and further concluding that he was not entitled to reimbursement for separate property contributions that were applied towards the acquisition of a condominium.

B. Course of the Proceedings

The trial in this matter took place on March 31, 2010 and April 1 and 2, 2010. (R., p. 5.)

On July 26, 2010, the magistrate court issued Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. (R., p. 561.) The Decree of Divorce was entered on August 10, 2010. (R., p. 605.)

APPELLANT'S BRIEF P. 4

The magistrate court ordered that Bill's IRA with Charles Schwab was community property. (R., pp. 586 and 614) The magistrate further held that the capital gains distribution Bill received on one of his separate business entities was community and therefore he was not entitled to any reimbursement for his application of the funds towards the acquisition of the Ketchum Condominium. (R., p. 582.)

Bill filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment on August 16, 2010. (R., p. 624.) The hearing on the matter was heard on September 13, 2010. (R., p. 6.) The magistrate court issued a Judgment Re: Motion to Alter or Amend Findings of fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment on September 21, 2010. (R., p. 679.) The magistrate subsequently issued the Judgment and Order Re: Motion to Alter or Amend Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on September 24, 2010 which simply corrected the title of the order. (R., p. 683.) Other than noting a few clarifications at the hearing, the magistrate court did not amend its conclusions on the issues raised in this appeal.

Bill timely filed a Notice of Appeal on November 4, 2010. (R., p. 689.) On August 25, 2011, the Honorable District Court Judge, Kathryn Sticklen, entered her Memorandum Decision and Order. (R., p. 826.) The District Court affirmed the magistrate court's decision. (R., p. 826.)

On September 28, 2011, Bill filed a timely Notice of Appeal to this Court. (R., p. 862.)

C. Statement of Facts

Bill and Dr. Baruch were married on December 1, 2000 in Boise, Idaho. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 27, L. 3-6.) Dr. Baruch was 44 years old at the time of trial. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 27, L. 1.) Dr. Baruch is employed as an emergency medicine physician at St. Luke's Hospital and has an APPELLANT'S BRIEF P. 5

ownership interest in Emergency Medicine of Idaho, PA. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 29, L. 13-18.) She graduated from medical school in 1994 and completed her residency in 1997. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 29, L. 23-25.) Dr. Baruch earned a base income of approximately \$260,000 in 2009.

Bill was 64 years old at the time of trial. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 236, L. 21.) Bill is a real estate developer and has a real estate development firm, Clark Development, LLC. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 237, L. 13-20.)

Retirement Accounts

Prior to getting married, both of the parties had established their own retirement accounts. Dr. Baruch had a 401(k) with EMI through Charles Schwab. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 71, L. 22-24.) The balance of Dr. Baruch's 401(k) on the date of marriage was \$74,776.85. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 32(b).) As of the date of divorce the account balance, through community contributions, increased to \$479,274.03 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 230.)

Bill had an IRA with Charles Schwab ending in account number 3713 (hereinafter referred to as "Schwab 3713 IRA"). The balance of this account on the date of marriage was \$386,363. (Defendant's Exhibit 528, Bate Nos. 349-350.) During marriage, Bill rolled over some of his retirement funds from the Schwab 3713 IRA into two other retirement accounts, but never withdrew any substantial funds from his IRA. (Tr. p. 434, L. 5-9.) The Schwab 3713 IRA had a value less than it did on the date of marriage with a balance of \$354,350. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 230.) Just as the parties did with Dr. Baruch's 401(k), they also made contributions to Bill's retirement account. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 102, L. 23-25.)

¹ As the magistrate court noted, Bill received one *de minimus* distribution in the amount of \$1,495.24 in 2007. (R., p. 570.)

As stated above, during marriage Bill did not withdraw any substantial funds from his IRA. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 434, L. 5-9.) Bill did rollover or transfer funds from his the Schwab 3713 IRA into two other retirement accounts. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 434, L. 9-13.) Defendant's Exhibit 638 provides a summary of all of the rollovers to which Bill testified to and provided underlying documentation. Plaintiff's Exhibit 638 was offered and admitted which is a summary of all the documents on the Schwab 3713 IRA, Pensco Trust and Sterling Trust. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 481, L. 11-25, p. 483, L. 3.)

Bill made transfers and rollovers between two other retirement accounts, the first of which is called Pensco Trust. Pensco Trust is a trust company based in San Francisco that manages IRAs. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 432, L. 1-2.) Bill also rolled over funds from his Schwab 3713 IRA into Sterling Trust which is similar to Pensco Trust, just a different company that handles self-directed IRAs. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 466, L. 4-8.)

Bill testified at trial that all three of the accounts, Schwab 3713 IRA, Pensco Trust and Sterling Trust are all IRAs in his name. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 483, L. 9-18.) All of which are essentially one, big IRA held in three different entities. (Id.) There were transfers and investments made within each of them during the marriage. (Id.) Bill never made any substantial withdrawals to himself from the any of the three accounts.² (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 483, L. 19-22.) Bill provided detailed testimony regarding the investments and rollovers reflected on Defendant's Exhibit 638, but other than the *de minimus* \$1,495.24 distribution in 2007, no funds were ever withdrawn. (Defendant's Exhibit 638, Tr., Vol. 1, p. 483-496.)

² No funds were ever distributed to Bill from the Sterling or Pensco Trusts. (Defendant's Exhibit 638.) As noted above, there was only one *de minimus* distribution made from the Charles Schwab account in 2007. **APPELLANT'S BRIEF P. 7**

On the date of divorce, the Schwab 3713 IRA had a value less than it did on the date of marriage and had a value of \$354,350. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 230.)

Bill's Separate Property Claim

During the parties' marriage they purchased a condominium unit in Ketchum, Idaho. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 422, L. 14-18.) Bill contributed separate property proceeds towards the acquisition of the condominium. Bill's separate property contribution consisted of a capital gains distribution he received in the amount of \$342,149 from his separate business entity called Veltex Building, LLC on February 7, 2007. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 420, L. 6-15, p. 421, L. 9-16.) Bill acquired his ownership interest in Veltex Building, LLC prior to marriage and this fact was not disputed. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 412, L. 1-5; p. 232, L. 4-8; Defendant's Exhibit 517.)

Veltex Building, LLC was a partnership formed to acquire the Veltex site, a former gas station, and to provide equity for planning and design of the project. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 412, L. 8-14.) The real property was acquired by Veltex Building, LLC prior to marriage. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 242, L. 19-25.) Bill acquired his interest in Veltex Building, LLC prior to marriage. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 412, L. 1-5; p. 232, L. 4-8; Defendant's Exhibit 517.) After Bill and Dr. Baruch were married, no funds were put into Veltex Building, LLC. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 418, L. 15-19.)

The property was acquired in 1997. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 242, L. 19-25.) The construction of the Veltex Building was completed in 2004. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 511, L. 22-25.) After the property was developed it was sold as condominiums, both commercial and residential. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 420, 6-15.) The proceeds on the sale were capital gains and distributions were made to the various partners in accordance with their percentage of ownership. (Id.) On February 7, 2007, Bill received a distribution which was capital gains from Veltex Building, LLC in the amount of APPELLANT'S BRIEF P. 8

\$342,149 which was deposited directly into his Charles Schwab account ending in 3714. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 421, L. 4-16, p. 422, L. 4-8; Defendant's Exhibit 596, Bate Stamp 1283; Plaintiff's Exhibit 232.) Bill testified that this was a capital distribution and not income. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 421, L. 15-16.)

Dr. Baruch presented no evidence to dispute this testimony other than her claim that the community was entitled to a portion of the distribution because Bill put in "sweat equity" during the construction which occurred during marriage. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 588, L. 19-22.) However, Dr. Baruch did not present any evidence of any labor or efforts expended by Bill towards the Veltex Building, LLC. Further, Bill testified that none of the equity in Veltex Building, LLC was due to any sweat equity because Clark Development, LLC was paid a fee for developing the project. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 626, L. 11-28.) Bill historically has received a draw from Clark Development, LLC after expenses are paid, which is his primary source of income. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 238.) In 2009, he was receiving income of \$15,000 per month until April of 2009. (Id.) As of January 2010, Clark Development, LLC was receiving income of \$15,000, which after expenses were paid Bill received approximately \$8,500 per month. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 244.)

Additionally, the parties' tax returns reflect that the distribution from Veltex was capital gains. The \$342,149 distribution actually consisted of a combination of two sources. First, the distribution consisted of funds returned to Bill from his capital account which contained capital that he initially invested in the entity prior to marriage in the amount of \$181,735. (Defendant's Exhibit 517A.) Second, the distribution consisted of capital gains in the amount of \$160,414. (*Id.*)

The parties' 2007 tax returns further show that the distribution was not income, but rather capital gains. (Defendant's Exhibit 547.) With regard to the return of a portion of Bill's capital account, Defendant's Exhibit 517(a) reflects that in 2007, Bill's capital account was reduced from \$193,790 to \$12,055, the difference of which is \$181,735. (Defendant's Exhibit 517(a).) This return of capital accounts for a portion of the \$342,149 distribution.

The second portion of the \$342,149 distribution consists of capital gains. Exhibit 517(a) reflects that Bill received 1231 gain of \$126,906 and 704c gain of \$34,625, which is a total capital gains of \$161,531. (Defendant's Exhibit 517(a).) The total capital gains of \$161,531 is reflected on Schedule E, Part II, line 11 and is not included as ordinary income. (Defendant's Exhibit 547, bate stamped Def00500.) However, Bill did not receive the full capital gains of \$161,531 because there was a loss of rental income in the amount of \$1,339 that reduced the amount. (Defendant's Exhibit 517(a).) There was also a *de minimus* amount of interest income of \$222. (*Id*.) Because the *de minimus* interest income of \$222 was consumed by the \$1,339 loss on rental income, the remaining balance of \$160,414 included entirely of capital gains. (*Id*.) The capital gains of \$160,414 and the return of his capital of \$181,735 accounts for the distribution of \$342,149. (*Id*.)

This distribution is not ordinary income, as the tax returns reflect. The \$161,531 is identified as capital gains in Schedule E related to the sale of the building. (Defendant's Exhibit 547.) Pursuant to Bill's testimony, Veltex Building, LLC developed the Veltex building and it was sold as condominiums and the proceeds of those sales were counted as capital gains. (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 420, L. 3-15.) The return of a portion of the capital account is not reflected at all on

the tax returns because it was simply a return of a portion of his initial capital contribution that was made when the entity was established, prior to marriage.

II. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. Did the district court err when it affirmed the magistrate's characterization of the entirety of Bill's IRA as community property?
- B. Did the district court err when it affirmed the magistrate's characterization of the capital gains distribution earned on Bill's separate property as community property?
- C. Did the district court err when it affirmed the magistrate's holding that Bill was not entitled to reimbursement for separate funds expended on the acquisition of the condominium unit in Ketchum?

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

When this Court reviews a decision rendered by a district court acting in its appellate capacity, it considers the trial court's decision, and if that decision is free from error and if the district court affirmed that decision, the Court affirms the district court's decision as a matter of procedure. *Dunagan v. Dunagan*, 147 Idaho 599, 600, 213 P.3d 384, 385 (2009); *Losser v. Bradstreet*, 145 Idaho 670, 672, 183 P.3d 758, 760 (2008). This Court has free review of the legal issues analyzed by the district court acting in its appellate capacity. *Carter v. Zollinger*, 146 Idaho 842, 844, 203 P.3d 1241, 1243 (2009)(citing *Losser*, 145 Idaho at 672, 183 P.3d at 760.) This Court will find error in a district court's decision to affirm the magistrate court only if the magistrate's decision is not supported by substantial and competent evidence, and therefore,

clearly erroneous. State Dept. of Health & Welfare v. Doe, 145 Idaho 662, 664, 182 P.3d 1196, 1198 (2008).

The trial court's findings of fact will not be set aside on appeal unless they are clearly erroneous such that they are not based upon substantial and competent evidence. *Kraly v. Kraly*, 147 Idaho 299, 302, 208 P.3d 281, 284 (2009); *Stewart v. Stewart*, 143 Idaho 673, 676, 152 P.3d 544, 547 (2007).

The characterization of property as either community or separate involved mixed questions of law and fact. *Krebs v. Krebs*, 114 Idaho 571, 573, 759 P.2d 77, 79 (Ct.App.1988). The manner and method of acquisition of property are questions of fact for the trial court. *Batra v. Batra*, 135 Idaho 388, 391, 17 P.3d 889, 892 (Ct.App.2001). The characterization of an asset in light of the facts found, however, is a question of law over which the appellate court exercises free review. *Id*.

B. The district court erred in affirming the magistrate's holding that the entirety of Bill's IRA, which was worth less than it was worth on the date of marriage, was community property.

Both of the parties had their own retirement accounts established before they were married. Dr. Baruch had a 401(k) with EMI through Charles Schwab. The balance of Dr. Baruch's 401(k) on the date of marriage was \$74,776.85. (Plaintiff's Exhibit 32(b).) As of the date of divorce the account balance, through community contributions, increased to \$479,274.03 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 230.)

Bill established his Schwab 3713 IRA prior to marriage. The balance on the date of marriage was \$386,363. (Defendant's Exhibit 528, Bate Nos. 349-350.) During marriage, Bill rolled over some of his retirement funds from the Schwab 3713 IRA into other retirement APPELLANT'S BRIEF P. 12

accounts, but never took any substantial distributions from his IRA.³ (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 434, L. 5-9.) The magistrate court noted that in 2007 Bill received a distribution in the amount of \$1,495.24, which was declared on the parties' joint tax returns. (R., p. 570.) The magistrate did conclude that the distribution was "more likely than not" used for a community purpose. (Id.) The magistrate did not conclude that any of the other rollovers or transfers were actually received by Bill. Bill's testimony, and the evidence presented established that the funds in the Schwab 3713 IRA were rolled over and transferred between two other retirement accounts, which in turn invested the funds in various entities. The magistrate determined that this activity provided a basis for treating Bill's retirement account differently from Dr. Baruch's retirement account.

It has always been Bill's position that the Idaho Supreme Court decisions in *McCoy v*. *McCoy*, 125 Idaho 199, 868 P.2d 527 (Ct.App.1994) and *Maslen v*. *Maslen*, 121 Idaho 85, 822 P.2d 982 (1991) were equally applicable to both Dr. Baruch's pre-marriage interest in her retirement account and his own pre-marriage interest in his IRA. In fact, it was Bill's position that the cases applied to both parties' retirement accounts and that each of them were entitled to receive, as their separate property, the balance that existed in the account on the date of marriage.

Although the magistrate court did not substantively address Dr. Baruch's separate property claims to her retirement account, it appears from the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that the magistrate court applied the *McCoy* and *Maslen* analysis only to Dr. Baruch's retirement account because she was awarded \$74,777 as her separate property, which was the

³ There was one de *minimus* distribution during the span of the ten-year marriage that included one distribution of \$1,495.24 on August 15, 2007. (Defendant's Exhibit 638.)

balance of the account on the date of marriage. The magistrate court viewed Bill's differently and found that the entire account was community property.

On appeal, the district court appears to have concluded that Bill stipulated to the treatment of Dr. Baruch's account as her separate property and stated:

In addition, while Bill objects to the different treatment that the magistrate afforded his IRA and Amy's, he testified that he was claiming no interest in her IRA (see id., at 477-78 – "Are you claiming any interest in that IRA?" "No, I don't claim any interest in it." "We will agree to treat it as separate property.") See Kohringer v. Robertson, 137 Idaho 94, 99, 44 P.3d 1149, 1154 (2002) ("Oral stipulations of the parties in the presence of the court are generally held to be binding, especially when acted upon or entered on the court records.")

(R., p. 834.) A review of the transcript from the trial clearly reflects that Bill was not referencing Dr. Baruch's 401(k), but was referencing a totally different IRA. The testimony was as follows:

MR. WELSH: Bill, just so you're referencing exhibit 592 which was our property and debt schedule, Bill on line item 27A, we added to the schedule, called it new IRA. And Exhibit 234, which Amy introduced and described an IRA that has a value, according to the — I think Exhibit 234 shows a value of \$3,361.

Bill, were you familiar with an IRA of Amy's?

- **A.** I knew that Amy had an account of some sort. I didn't' know if it was an IRA or an open market account with Wachovia.
- Q. And she said she had this IRA before marriage but could not locate the statements?
- A. Uh-huh. Yes.
- Q. Are you claiming any interest in the IRA?
- A. No, I don't claim any interest in it.
- O. You agree that would just be awarded to her?
- A. Yes.

Q. Amy also testified that -

APPELLANT'S BRIEF P. 15

THE COURT: I'm sorry, Counsel. Do I understand that there is an agreement that it is separate property?

MR. WELSH: We will agree to treat it as separate property, Your Honor, even though we don't have a statement back then. But –

(Tr., Vol. 1, p. 477, L. 3-25, p. 478, L. 1-5.) It is clear that Bill was referring to the line item 27A on Defendant's Exhibit 592 which reflects that it is an IRA with a value of \$3,361. This is not the 401(k) that was the issue on appeal. The district court clearly erred when it appeared to conclude that Bill had stipulated to the treatment of Dr. Baruch's 401(k).

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