UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-5-2012

Baruch v. Clark Respondent's Brief Dckt. 39224

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

"...(1) whether the trial court correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) whether the trial court acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion and

consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (3) whether the trial court reached its decision by an exercise of reason." <u>Cameron v. Neal</u>, 130 Idaho 898, 902, 950 P.2d 1237, 1241 (1997); <u>Walborn v. Walborn</u>, 120 Idaho 494, 817 P.2d 160 (1991); <u>Sun Valley Shopping Center, Inc. v. Idaho Power Co.</u>, 119 Idaho 87 (1991).

5

The Idaho Supreme Court has stated that "individual cases will have to be largely decided on their facts" and that "it is better policy to allow the trial court sufficient discretion to consider the circumstances in each case to determine the most equitable manner for determining and dividing the marital portion of pension benefits". District Court's Memorandum and Decision, R. 835, citing <u>Maslen v. Maslen</u>, 121 Idaho 85, 91, 822 P.2d 982, 998 (1991).

4. <u>Conclusions of Law</u>. The Supreme Court and Court of Appeals will review freely conclusions of law reached, by stating legal rules or principles and applying them to facts found. <u>State</u> <u>v. Miller</u>, 134 Idaho 458, 462, 4 P.3d 570, 574 (Ct. App. 2000); <u>Liebelt v. Liebelt</u>, 118 Idaho 845, 801 P.2d 52 (Ct. App. 1990). If the law has been properly applied to the facts as found, the judgment will be upheld on appeal. <u>Stonecipher v. Stonecipher</u>, 131 Idaho 731, 963 P.2d 1168 (1998).

In this case, given the preponderance of the evidence, and burden of proof and persuasion, the Trial Court's findings were supported by substantial evidence and the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion. The District Court, after careful review, agreed. Additionally, the trial court found Amy's testimony credible, but the same cannot be said for Bill Clark, whose credibility problems plagued him throughout the trial. Examples can be found in Findings of Fact #16, #18, #29, #50, #54, and #96; R. 585, L. 24; R. 587, L. 20-24.

It is unfortunate that Appellant fails to cite to Exhibits and the Record which <u>supports</u> the Trial Court's findings of fact, so that the Court can determine how it is the Trial Court made and supported its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law instead of just re-stating his version of the facts again.⁷

Β.

#### The District Court Did Not Error In Affirming The Magistrate's Finding That The Value Of Appellant's Charles Schwab SEP/IRA #...3713 Was Community Property

Appellant's claim concerning his SEP/IRA was deceptively simple and inherently unfair. He claimed that since the value on the date of marriage of \$386,636 exceeded the balance at the date of divorce of \$353,873, that all of the account was his sole and separate property. That view ignores the fact that the account in 2002 because of market fluctuations dropped down to \$249,799 (Exhibit 235) and dropped again thereafter; that Bill removed funds in excess of \$250,000 from the account during marriage (Exhibits

⁷ For example, Appellant states as "fact" in the course of proceedings Section of his brief, at page 5, that the magistrate found that the distribution Bill received was a "capital gain", which he attempted to trace into purchase of the Ketchum Condo., but the Court <u>found</u> it was not a capital gain, but income. District Court Memorandum Decision and Order at p. 13. R. 838. The Trial Court did not believe Bill's testimony that it was capital gain. Tr. p. 655, L. 12 to p. 656, L. 10; Tr., p. 660, L. 16 to p. 661, L. 2.

235 and 638); and that community contributions in the sum of \$207,313 were added to the account during the marriage. (Exhibit 235, Footnote 1, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, R. 571. Account #...3713 became hopelessly commingled as the Court so found.⁸ Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, p. 23-26 cited by the District Court at p. 5-6 of the Memorandum Decision and Order. R. 830-831.

Appellant cited <u>Maslen v. Maslen</u>, 121 Idaho 85, 822 P.2d 982 (1991) to the Magistrate and District Court for the proposition that the Court should simply subtract the value on the date of marriage from the value at divorce to arrive at the community value today. The Supreme Court in <u>Maslen</u> recognized that such a simplistic view would not always apply and in affirming the Magistrate here the District Court quoted the **most applicable part** 

of <u>Maslen</u>:

"Because the provisions of retirement plans vary so greatly from plan to plan, both in the manner of funding and also in the administration of the plans, and because the circumstances in each case are so varied we decline to state a single inflexible rule for calculating the community interest or value of retirement plans...it appears to us to be impractical-if not impossible-to formulate a categorical rule about the appropriate treatment of retirement accounts in dissolution of marriage cases. We conclude that it is a better policy to allow the trial court sufficient discretion to consider the circumstances in each case to determine the most

⁸ During marriage Bill transferred out \$250,000 to Pensco Trust and Sterling Trust which lost nearly all of its value. Exhibit 74A, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law 46 and 48. R. 570-571. Amy objected to a \$150,000 withdrawal in 2008 but Bill did it anyway. Finding of Fact #50. R. 571.

equitable manner for determining and dividing the marital portion of pension benefits." <u>Maslen v. Maslen</u>, supra, District Court Memorandum Decision and order at p. 7, R. 832.

The District Court in affirming the Magistrate explained as

follows:

"The circumstances of this case, concerning the utilization of the couple's IRAs, are also different than those in McCoy v. McCoy, in which no withdrawals were made from the IRA accounts. The magistrate's analysis of the circumstances surrounding Bill's IRA and the community's funding of it, are supported by the evidence. As noted by the magistrate, while Bill initially had a balance of \$386,636.18, the community provided some \$200,000 of contributions to it during the marriage, while Bill was making withdrawals from the account to Due to the lack of finance his business ventures. accounting, it cannot be determined to what extent the reduction in value in the account was due to market forces or the withdrawals. In any event, the magistrate did not abuse his discretion in determining that the most equitable solution was to divide Bill's IRA equally, since his IRA, which began as consisting of only his separate property, was commingled with community property." R. 832-833.

The simple subtraction method was appropriate to one plan in <u>Maslen</u> in part because the plan increased in value during marriage, in that United Airlines (Mr. Maslen's employer) contributed 9% of his monthly salary to the retirement account. Mr. Maslen was not asserting that the growth in his retirement plan was separate property, rather he was asking the court to apply a time rule calculation to the entire plan. Appellant cites here and to the District Court the case of <u>McCoy v. McCoy</u>, 125 Idaho 199, 868 P.2d 527 (Ct. App. 1994) which utilized the subtraction method. Like Mr. Maslen's retirement plan, Judy McCoy's IRA's and 401(k) <u>grew</u> during the marriage and the increase was determined to be community property. <u>McCoy</u>, supra, at 205. Here, Bill Clark's SEP/IRA <u>decreased</u> during the marriage. The Court in <u>McCoy</u> also stated "no evidence was presented to show that Judy or Clinton withdrew any funds from the retirement account during the marriage...". <u>Supra</u>, at 205. Yet here, during the marriage **Bill Clark took withdrawals** and moved the monies from Schwab #...3713 in the sum of \$301,975 (Exhibit 235) "to finance his business ventures". R. 832. Bill then asked the Trial Court to confirm the entire account balance of \$353,873 as his separate property and the Court could not legally ignore said distributions as well as the contributions during the marriage in the amount of \$207,313.

When separate property and community amounts exist in an account, commingling will convert the separate property portion to community property unless the separate property can be identified and properly traced. <u>Barton v. Barton</u>, 132 Idaho 394, 973 P.2d 746 (1999); <u>Batra v. Batra</u>, 135 Idaho 388, 17 P.3d 889 (Ct. App. 2001). Appellant's tracing of the separate property component must be established with "reasonable certainty and particularity". <u>Worzala v. Worzala</u>, 128 Idaho 408, 913 P.2d 1178 (1996); <u>Houska v. Houska</u>, 95 Idaho 568, 512 P.2d 1317 (1973). Bill failed to provide such proof. Before the trial, the parties asked the Court to address pre-trial Mr. Clark's attempt to compare the balance today to the balance on the date of marriage and if the amount were less, whether factually and legally the court would be compelled to RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - Page 21

conclude that it was all separate property. On January 27, 2010, prior to trial, the court properly ruled that it would come down to a matter of proof. Yet, at trial Appellant did not even attempt to trace, either directly or indirectly, with reasonable certainty and particularity. Josephson v. Josephson, 115 Idaho 1142, 772 P.2d 1236 (Ct. App. 1989). Such trace was impossible due to lack of accounting evidence from Bill. R. 832. Because Bill Clark did not trace with reasonable certainty and particularity the \$386,636 in existence one day before marriage to the stock, bonds, and cash in the account now, he failed to rebut the community presumption. In addition he did not attempt to identify community contributions, additions, interest, dividends, and natural enhancement on the same as part of a trace. During the marriage funds were added and funds moved in and out of the account and what was there at trial was clearly not what was there on the date of marriage. A review of Bill Clark's SEP/IRA shows that it dropped in value from \$386,636 on November 30, 2000 (Exhibit 235) to \$249,799 at the end of 2002 (Exhibit 235). The account suffered an additional drop in value because of the market correction in 2008. Apart from additions and withdrawals which Appellant ignored, in essence Bill Clark sought to make the community a guarantor and pay him back for the drop in value by a windfall award at trial of the value he had on the date of marriage, while his removal of funds to invest in his projects were all but lost in their entirety. The value consisted of RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - Page 22

investments made from additions and interest, dividends, plus appreciation and minus market loss on the same, all of which was community property during the marriage. Mr. Clark did not attempt to trace because he could not trace with reasonable certainty and particularity in commingled account #...3713.

The Trial Court found and the District Court affirmed the following:

"There is no question, based on the significant community contributions thereto, that the community has an interest in the Schwab 3713 account. From the date of marriage, and every year thereafter, the community invested into the account in varying amounts, totaling over \$200,000. There was no evidence to suggest a finding other than that Bill had sole control over the withdrawal of money from the IRA [and that]...significant community funds were commingled with separate funds". Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. R. 583, 585, 586.

The Magistrate and District Court addressed and rejected Appellant's argument below that the characterization and distribution of the IRA was controlled by <u>Maslen v. Maslen</u>, 121 Idaho 85, 822 P.2d 982 (1991) and <u>McCoy v. McCoy</u>, 125 Idaho 199, 868 P.2d 527 (Ct. App. 1994). Neither case controlled because the IRA was a savings account and the time rule does not apply to a savings account. It was clear that "Bill's treatment of the account during marriage is more analogous to a savings account, or perhaps more accurately, a business capital or investment account, than a retirement account." Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, page 25. R. 585.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - Page 23

"It is noteworthy that in neither <u>Maslen</u> or <u>McCoy</u> was there evidence that withdrawals were made from the accounts during the course of the marriage. The circumstances in this case are factually distinguishable from either above cited cases, and suggest a different analysis for determining the character and distribution of the Schwab 3713 account." Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. R., 585.

The Court found that significant community funds were commingled with separate funds in Account #...3713. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. R. 585. That finding was inescapable.

Additionally, the Trial Court found that "Bill's course of dealing in Schwab 3713 took on the characteristics of a shell game". Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. R. 585. At trial Bill was confused about his own shell game, Tr., p. 432, L. 5-15, although he knowingly transferred money from 3713 over Amy's objection. Tr., p. 440, L.5-19 and p. 468, L. 2-21. There were numerous transfers between 3713, Pensco Trust, and Sterling Trust (Tr., p. 483, L. 9-18), all done to funnel funds out and into his investments. Tr., p. 664, L. 4-12. Because of the shell game, Appellant had failed to provide the Court with a basis to trace any funds within the IRA "as Bill's separate property with a reasonable certainty and particularity". Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. R. 585-586. Because the standard of proof is so high, and the trace proof totally lacking or much less even attempted at trial, the second guessing of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law regarding Schwab 3713 is unreasonable in the words of Huerta v.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF - Page 24

<u>Huerta</u>, 127 Idaho 77, 896 P.2d 985 (Ct. App. 1995) and <u>Reed v.</u> <u>Reed</u>, 137 Idaho 53, 44 P.3d 1108 (2002). The Appellate Court must view the evidence in a light most favorable to Respondent since Amy prevailed at trial on this issue. <u>Silva v. Silva</u>, 142 Idaho 900, 136 P.3d 371 (Ct. App. 2006).

> "Consequently, because it is commingled and assets are insufficiently traced, the entire amount of Schwab 3713 is deemed to be community and will be divided equally." Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. R. 586.

A tangential issue raised on appeal, and <u>not</u> properly an issue for appeal to the District Court or this Court, is the claim that the Magistrate erred in its decision that if the entirety of Bill's IRA was community property, then Dr. Baruch's account should be "characterized in the same manner". Appellant conceded Amy's separate property interest of \$74,777 in her IRA as a matter of tactics, so Bill could argue Schwab 3713 was all his separate property. Tr., p. 662, L. 16-18. Mr. Welsh said, "Judge, all I'm saying is that we argued that both of their balances as of the date of marriage was separate property." Tr., p. 662, L. 16-18. At the Motion to Amend, Mr. Welsh tried to argue he did not concede her separate property portion yet he clearly did. Tr. p., 672, L. 7-11. A party may not obtain reversal on appeal for an alleged error that was invited by that party in the trial Court. Having conceded her separate property interest in her IRA (item 32 on the property and debt schedule), Bill cannot appeal this issue, just like he could not have appealed from a stipulation. Ratliff v.

Ratliff, 129 Idaho 422 (1996); Smith v. Smith, 136 Idaho 120, 29 P.3d 956 (Ct. App. 2001). Bill's counsel's concession was a matter of tactics but was binding. Moreover, this argument was not raised in the lower court and was only raised post trial and cannot be the subject of an appeal. See Smith v. Smith, 136 Idaho 120, 123, 29 P.3d 956 (Ct. App. 2001). In Bill's Post Trial Brief he conceded (R. 270) that Amy's \$74,777 in item 32 on the property and debt schedule (her Schwab Account #...5317) was her "separate property". At the hearing on the Motion to Alter or Amend, Defendant stated that the balance in Amy's IRA before marriage was her separate property, and that the court should on that basis change its decision with reference to Bill's IRA. Tr., p. 662, L.16-18.

The District Court referred to a different I.R.A. when it quoted testimony at page 834.⁹ The Trial Court was not referring to item 27A, but item 32 and properly treated, however, the separate property in Amy's Schwab IRA (Acct. #...5317) different than Bill's Schwab IRA (Acct. #...3713) because the parties treated them "completely different". Tr. p. 662, L. 22 to page 663, L. 5. Amy withdrew nothing from hers but she added to her IRA of which Bill got the benefit. "On the other hand, [Bill] used his a little bit like his wallet in terms of moving money out, making other

⁹ The District Court committed a minor and harmless error when it referred to a passage from Bill's testimony where he conceded a Wells Fargo I.R.A. in the amount of \$3,361. This is a different IRA than Amy's Schwab IRA #...5317, which is the one Mr. Welsh conceded was separate property to the extent of \$74,777.

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